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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr K Adkins

	Scheme
	:
	ICI Pension Fund (the Fund)

	Respondents
	:
	ICI Pensions Trustee Limited (the Trustees)


 Imperial Chemical Industries plc (the Employer)
MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr Adkins alleges that his application for ill-health retirement was not properly considered.  He says the Trustees caused unnecessary delays and failed to obtain formal prognoses that addressed the criteria, in the absence of which, his employment would have terminated by reason of ill health.  He says, the Trustees also failed to comply with the rules, by not accepting the Employer’s certification of his reason for leaving employment. 

2. Mr Adkins also claims that his appeal under the Scheme’s internal disputes resolution (IDR) procedure was not properly considered. 

3. Mr Adkins claims to have suffered financial loss and distress and inconvenience, as a result of this alleged maladministration.

4. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

5. Mr Adkins was employed by ICI Imagedata, the business division of Imperial Chemical Industries plc.  ICI Imagedata and Imperial Chemical Industries plc are for the purposes of this determination collectively referred to as the Employer.

6. On 23 September 2002 Mr Adkins was informed, orally, that his role of development project manager was to be made redundant.  Mr Adkins asked for this decision to be reversed but on 7 October 2002 he was given 12 months’ notice in writing and was then placed on redeployment duties, with the aim of finding alternative employment.

7. On 14 October 2002 a period of sick leave started that continued until Mr Adkins’ employment was terminated in October 2003. 
8. On 21 October 2002, the human resources manager (the HR Manager) wrote to Mr Adkins, informing him (again) that his role was to be made redundant effective from 20 October 2003.  

9. On 30 October 2002, he sent an e-mail to the Employer saying his doctor had diagnosed him with depression and asked the Employer to clarify what ill-health benefits he would be entitled to: 

“Following on from our discussion yesterday it would be very helpful in reassuring my wife if you could please clarify what I would be entitled to (in terms of ill health pension, pay and severance lump sum) under the following situations:

1.
Failure of health (preventing me from performing my normal work for an indefinite period) during the period up to 20 October 2003.

2.
Failure of health after 20 October 2003 but prior to normal retirement age.”

10. On 11 November 2002 Mr Adkins received a response, by e-mail:

“Kelvin, as you requested, I would like to confirm our conversation by phone today.  Having consulted with a member of the ICI HQ pensions department, he was very clear to me that you would not be a candidate for a failure of health pension.  He explained that the reason for leaving in your particular situation is redundancy, not ill health, and that to qualify for failure of health pension the rules dictate that the reason for leaving the Company must be ill health.
There would be no doubt be other issues involved e.g. in defining what a “normal” job is and also in acquiring medical evidence to substantiate the permanency of a medical condition.  However, it seems that in any case, these are superseded by the above.”

11. He was subsequently diagnosed as having Myxoedema (an under active thyroid) and applied for an ill-health retirement on that basis. On 21 January the Employer asked Dr Makepeace (Chief Occupational Physician and Medical Adviser to the Trustees) whether this condition qualified Mr Adkins for an incapacity pension.  Dr Makepeace say (in a later report dated 24 November 2004) that he responded by saying that Mr Adkins would not meet the criteria unless he developed significant complications associated with the disease.
12. Ms Bartley, the occupational health advisor (OHA) saw Mr Adkins in January 2003 and agreed to see him again once he had attended an appointment arranged by his GP with Dr Bodmer, an endocrinologist, and an appointment with the occupational health physician, Dr Thomas.  Dr Bodmer informed Mr Adkins’ GP on 3 February 2003 that Mr Adkins’ problems were composed of hypothyroid, intermittent tender axillary lymph nodes, possible hypertension, headaches, irritable bowel syndrome and systolic murmur.  He informed the GP that his plan was to repeat thyroid function and conduct chest x-ray, ultrasound of abdomen, echocardiogram, with a further review planned for 24 February 2003.

13. The occupational physician, Dr Thomas provided his report on 12 February 2003.  His report recorded a diagnosis of depression and recommended a course of counselling.

14. On 24 February 2003 Dr Bodmer wrote to Mr Adkins’ GP:

“…His chest x-ray and ultrasound scan are normal.  His chest echocardiogram showed trivial mitral regurgitation, which is the cause of his murmur.  This requires no further action or intervention.  The remainder of his echocardiogram was normal with an ejection fraction of 71% (normal greater than 50).  His raised cholesterol of 7.6 may be a function of his hypothyroidism and we can simply monitor that over time.  Positive thyroid peroxidise antibody at 147 (normal range 0-490, confirms the diagnosis of Hashimoto’s disease.  The remainder of his anti-antibodies, full blood count and haematinics were normal….” 

15. On 25 February 2003 the OHA wrote to the HR manager confirming that Mr Adkins was receiving treatment for his under active thyroid and that progress would be monitored. In addition the OHA said that Mr Adkins was suffering from depression and that counselling would be an appropriate course of action.  

16. On 12 April 2003, Mr Adkins’ GP wrote to the Employer:

“Mr Adkins’ apostrophy thyroid has now come back with a normal TSH.  While it was possibly just thyroid he wasn’t terribly keen on antidepressants however he does fit the three A’s of depression perfectly.  He has anergia to a marked degree, amentia to a marked degree and a fair degree of anhedonia.  He himself has read up about ME on the internet but I think I fact the myalgia is mostly the change in thyroid status rather than true ME as there was no particular flu-like illness that sparked it all off.  I might add that I was one of those that believed in ME even when it was heresy to do so.

I am therefore starting him on Paroxetine as well.  This might make the difference and help him turn the corner.  I hope he could now start his coaching support sessions again.  The reason he stopped them was he felt he wasn’t taking it in.  This of course was the amentia of the depression at work.  Things might now start to look very different….”  

17. On 29 May 2003 Mr Adkins submitted a sick note recording his reason for absence to be chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS) and hypothyroidism.  On 2 June 2003 he wrote to the Employer seeking clarity on his eligibility for a ‘Benefit 3’ pension and requesting he be assessed for that benefit.  Further sick notes were provided in June and July 2003 stating CFS. 

18. The Employer states that acting as the Trustees’ agent it contacted Dr Makepeace, on 4 June 2003, regarding that application:

“Hello Don, you may recall in January this year that we discussed a potential FOH of ours who had Hypothyroidism.  He now claims to have developed CFS.  Please can you look at the below e-mails to bring yourself up to speed.  I will contact you tomorrow to discuss unless you call me first.  I need your help on the medical side of things in terms of being able to assess the nature of the condition and any input you have in terms of my approach to this critical issue.”

19. Dr Makepeace advised that the local occupational physician should assess Mr Adkins and Dr Thomas subsequently saw Mr Adkins on 17 July 2003.

20. On 23 July 2003 Mr Adkins’ GP provided a report to the Employer:

“…I deeply suspect that Mr Adkins problems are due to CFS secondary to the viral infection he suffered in October 2002 and I have asked the Neurologist for his opinion on my conclusion.  As you well know the prognosis for CFS (the post viral syndrome) in the short term is poor and in the long term uncertain recovery and in view of this I do feel that he should be reconsidered for a retirement package as it appears unlikely that his condition will improve significantly for some considerable time sufficient to enable him to return to any form of gainful employment.

In view of the lack of a Consultant Specialist in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome in Colchester he has agreed to seek the opinion of Professor Findley, Consultant Neurologist, 27 Squirrels Heath Avenue, Giddea Park, Romford, RM2 BA1 privately for his opinion on his disabling illness and further advice on his management.”   

21. Dr Thomas provided his report to the HR Manager on 20 August 2003:

“I saw Mr Adkins at the Imagedata premises on 17 July 2003.

He told me that he now suffers from CFS which renders him completely exhausted all the time and some days he finds it difficult to get out of bed….

…He told me that his GP thinks his CFS is due to a viral infection.  He c/o severe diarrhoea.  Also has pain on defecation.  Has seen Professor Motson who has diagnosed IBS.

…CFS: not really any better or worse than it was at the beginning of the year when I last saw him….

…Opinion

There is no real change since I last saw him; he is now hoping to be granted ill health retirement.  I told him that I would have no input into such a decision and that this would be a matter for the Company Medical Adviser.”

22. On 8 September 2003, the HR Manager wrote to Dr Makepeace providing a chronology of his sickness absence, reasons for those absences and the background to his redundancy.  The chronology covered the period between 23 September 2002 and 23 July 2003. 

23. Also on 8 September 2003, Mr Adkins was seen by Consultant Physician Dr Weir, a specialist in CFS that he had appointed to provide an independent opinion.  The Employer states that it received a copy of this report on 23 September 2003.  The report reads:

“OPINION

Mr Adkins symptoms conform to the diagnostic criteria for CFS.  This is a very debilitating condition in both the physical and psychological sense.  Although its causes are not fully understood, it is a very real illness and has gained appropriate recognition now within the medical establishment in the United Kingdom.  Mr Adkins has been unable to work or seek alternative employment since October 2002 on account of this illness.  In my opinion it is likely that Mr Adkins will remain unwell and unable to work on account of his illness for the foreseeable future.

As previously stated, Mr Adkins current condition prevents him from returning to work.  The timing of his recovery cannot be predicted, nor is it predictable that he will make a recovery at all.  I understand that Mr Adkins is currently in the process of applying for retirement on the grounds of ill health and I am fully supportive of this course of action.  Should further details be required concerning Mr Adkins illness, I would be happy to provide these with Mr Adkins written permission.” 

24. There was a telephone conversation between Dr Makepeace and the Employer held on 23 September 2003.  The Employer states that Dr Makepeace confirmed that he was of the opinion that Mr Adkins did not qualify for health retirement.  Dr Makepeace also put this in writing to the HR manager:

“I am now in receipt of the medical reports provided by Dr Thomas and the job and sickness absence history provided by Kenny.  After careful consideration I find that Mr Kelvin Adkins does not meet the criteria for a failure of health pension…”

25. The Employer also states that soon thereafter, although when is not clear but it could have been the same day, Dr Makepeace confirmed that, having read Dr Weir’s report, he decided to seek the opinion of a specialist, Dr Libby.  No record of this conversation has been retained.

26. On 2 October 2003 Mr Adkins was informed by telephone of Dr Makepeace’s assessment.  On the same day he was issued with a termination letter telling him that he would be leaving the service of the Employer on 20 October 2003 by reason of redundancy.

27. At a Trustee Board Meeting held on 3 October 2003, it was proposed and agreed that Dr Makepeace should have the delegated authority from the Trustee to determine applications under Rule 18 (A) (i) and that Watson Wyatt, the Administrator, should have delegated authority to determine whether the member satisfies all other conditions to qualify for a Benefit 3 or Benefit 3A pension.  

28. An extract of minutes from the Trustee Board Meeting records the following:

“1365.2
Clarification of delegation to Company Medical Officers



Mr Amos presented his paper.  After discussion:

1365.2.1.
RESOLVED to approve the delegation of initial decisions to Company Medical Officers as set out in Annex 1 to these minutes.

Annex 1
:
Minutes 3 October 2003

The Company Medical Officer of the members’ employer has delegated authority from the trustee to determine whether:

(i)
for the purposes of Rule 18(A)(i) the member is or is not suffering from physical injury or ill health which is likely to incapacitate him permanently or for an indefinite period from doing his ordinary work;

(ii)
for the purpose of Rule 18A(A)(i):


(a)
the member is or is not suffering from serious or permanent incapacity arising from physical injury or permanent ill-health; and


(b)
the member’s incapacity is or is not such that the member is not capable of being gainfully employed by a Contributing Company or any other employer or employers and is not likely to recover from the incapacity to any substantial extent.

The Administrator has delegated authority to determine whether the member satisfies all other conditions to qualify for a Benefit 3 or Benefit 3A pension.

In the event that the member wishes to dispute the decision of the Company Medical Officer or of the Administrator, the member may appeal via the Fund’s Internal Dispute Resolution procedures.”

29. On 14 October 2003 Mr Adkins wrote to the Employer.  He asked if his employment could be extended beyond 20 October 2003, in light of a delay, which had been brought about by Dr Makepeace, who was seeking a specialist’s report.  On 15 October 2003 the Employer wrote to Mr Adkins in response to his e-mail request to have his employment extended beyond the notice period in order that his application for retirement on health grounds could be concluded prior to leaving employment.  In its response, the Employer told Mr Adkins that there was no requirement for him to remain employed in order for him to be considered for a health retirement.    

30. Mr Adkins was made redundant and on 25 October 2003 the Employer paid him £46,339 under the redundancy payment scheme.   

31. On 6 November 2003 Mr Adkins’ GP wrote to the Employer amending his report of 23 July 2003:

“With reference to my report dated 23 July 2003, I wish to apologise for an error as to the date of Mr Adkins’ viral gastro intestinal infection in the 4th paragraph of my report in which I wrote ‘in October 2002’ which was the date I personally first saw him for his illness.

On looking back through his records he was previously seen by my partner Dr Wakely, for this problem initially on 10.9.03 with a 4 week history of his problem when a stool study was done on that date showed no evidence of a bacterial pathology to account for his symptoms.”

And to the Trustees:

“I understand from Mr Adkins - who is my NHS patient - that he has been referred to a Psychiatrist for a medical opinion, following his request for retirement on medical grounds.

A clinical diagnosis of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome is now generally accepted as a physical illness which warrants full investigations to exclude all treatable causes for it by a Physician specialising in this field like Professor Pinching and his team at St Bartholomew’s Hospital, London, and where there is a shortage of these skilled teams by a Consultant Physician or Neurologist who can establish whether this illness has a physical basis or if secondary to a depressive illness and if the latter the decision to refer a patient with this condition to the Psychiatrist should be made by this Specialist Medical Team.

It would be a grave injustice to any patient with this illness to be referred to a Psychiatrist before he has been medically assessed by a Consultant Physician or a Neurologist.”  

32. Mr Adkins was referred by his GP to Consultant Neurologist, Professor Findley who stated in his report dated 29 December 2003:

“…I can confirm that he has chronic fatigue syndrome and fulfils the internationally accepted criteria for this diagnosis (Fukuda et al 1994).

On a background of good health, the triggering event would appear to be a viral gastro-enteritis. He has had full replacement with L-thyroxine, now more than one year after the onset of symptoms.

He has been fully assessed and will be starting an outpatient programme.

He remains under medical supervision.

I found no evidence of any depression or related psychological dysfunction.

It is likely he will remain symptomatic for the indefinite future. As regards his work as a Development Project Manager, this is demanding in terms of cognitive functioning, both his work in project management and in his technical analyst activities.  The chronic fatigue syndrome is associated, invariably, with cognitive impairment and inefficiency.  It is unlikely he would ever be able to return to the high level of work that he has hitherto, up to now, been able to carry out…”   

33. On 22 January 2004 another local occupational physician, Dr Li, wrote to the Consultant Physician, Dr Libby:

“…Kelvin has been off work since October 2002.  Everything is well documented.  However, in brief, from January to July of 2002 he found himself feeling rather slow and lethargic and in August/September he developed an acute viral gastroenteritis, which he feels may have been the start of these problems.

He was eventually seen by a number of doctors, including his own GP and an initial diagnosis of hypothyroid was made, however he did not improve as quickly as one would wish and was eventually seen by a Dr W Weir, a chronic fatigue specialist who diagnosed that he had this.  I have copied this letter to you as well.

Currently Kelvin feels that he is getting more and more tired with aches in his shoulders, neck, upper arms, thighs and in finding he has to sleep a lot, approximately twelve hours a day.  He has also been experiencing some headaches and his bowels have been slightly on the loose side.  Some days he is unable to get out of bed, but he has tried to do some graduated exercise and meditation and feels that his lymph nodes do go up now and then. 

When I saw him I took the opportunity of repeating his blood tests, which show that his thyroid is actually well controlled.  I am sorry to add a long letter on to everyone else’s correspondence but really we would very much value your opinion in this rather difficult case to see whether Kelvin indeed has a chronic fatigue syndrome or whether you feel he may have some other pathology.

Ultimately he is seeking retirement on medical grounds and we would value your opinion plus a prognosis, with possibly a time interval included of any possible recovery….” 

34. On 8 March 2004 Dr Libby responded to Dr Li:

“…I should say at the outset that all the reports from previous doctors confirm my own clinical assessment and concur with the precise history that Mr Adkins gave me.

A diagnosis of chronic fatigue syndrome has been made following an acute gastrointestinal infection.  A diagnosis of functional gastrointestinal disorder (IBS) has also been made.  A diagnosis of thyroid dysfunction has been made and treated with Thyroxine.  A diagnosis of depression and also acute anxiety has been recorded and indeed has been treated with both Amitriptyline and Paroxetine…

….The question of disability and medical retirement is an important issue.  This man was an active sportsman, a dynamic and productive chemist and project developer who also had interests and enthusiasms outside his work.  He is now a broken man struggling to keep his family going and facing an unjustified prognosis of permanent disability and chronic fatigue.  What he needs is active intervention from a multidisciplinary team that understands the core diagnosis.  I hope this is of some help to you and welcome further discussions as to whether I might be able to direct him to further treatment and help that he clearly needs….”

35. On 11 March 2004 the Employer wrote to its pension department:

“I enclose a Medical Certificate (Form N) in respect of the above named employee, which has been signed by ICI Chief Medical officer, Dr Makepeace.

Mr Adkins had left the company by reason of redundancy on 20 October 2003 but had requested consideration of a Failure of Heath pension.  As this has now been granted, I would be grateful if you will amend his exit to ‘Failure of Health’.  Would you then recalculate his pension from 21 October 2003 on a FOH basis and pay this pension to him, including arrears from his date of leaving.” 

36. On 24 March 2004 the Employer’s finance director wrote to Mr Adkins:

“I refer to the recent health assessments arranged for you by the ICI Chief Medical Officer.  I am now writing to confirm that, subsequent to your termination of employment by reason of redundancy on 20 October 2003, you have now been granted a pension on health grounds.

Under the ICI Employees Redundancy Payment Scheme, a payment of £46,339 was made to you on 25 October 2003.  In the case of retirement on health grounds, an ex-gratia payment of £46,339 would have been paid to you on retirement.  As this sum is equivalent to the payment made to you on 25 October 2003 under the ICI Employees’ Redundancy Payment Scheme, there are no further payments to be made to you.  The payment was inclusive of any statutory redundancy pay entitlement, pay in lieu of notice and other payments, which may have been due.  Full details will be notified to the Inland Revenue at the end of the fiscal year….

…Pensions Department will write to you again regarding your pension position in light of the change to the reason for your termination of employment….”

37. On 15 April 2004 the Trustees wrote to Mr Adkins:

“I am writing to advise you that your application for a Benefit 3 pension has been rejected by the Trustees and to inform you of your rights to appeal against this decision.

The reasons for turning down your application are as follows:

· The trustees were advised by your employer on 21 October 2003 that your employment terminated on 20 October 2003 by reason of redundancy.

· However, medical condition is only one of several criteria, all of which need to be satisfied in order for you to be awarded a Benefit 3 (ill health) pension.  One of the other conditions is that your reason for leaving employment must have been ill health.  

Since your employer certified at the time of your termination of employment that your reason for leaving was, on the contrary, redundancy, you do not appear to satisfy this condition and so your application cannot be accepted.”

38. On 12 May 2004 Mr Adkins’ GP provided a report to the Trustees:

“…His medical condition and prognosis has unfortunately remained unchanged from the position it was prior to the end of his contract to the present time and in view of this I would be grateful if you would agree to his request for the authorisation of his pension on medical grounds.”

39. On 20 August 2004 the Employer’s pensions department wrote to Mr Adkins saying that although the Employer had written to him on 24 March 2004 indicating he was eligible for health retirement the Trustees were unable to take this into account because he had been made redundant.    He was advised that if he felt his employment could have been terminated on grounds of ill health at any date earlier than 20 October 2003 then he may have grounds for appeal direct to the Trustees.  

40. On 23 August 2004 Mr Adkins e-mailed the pensions department to say that he was considering making an appeal under the IDR procedure but felt that he needed further questions answered before he could do so.  He did, however, express his concerns and explained that what he was concerned about was the link between the apparent maladministration by the Employer in delaying the timing of medical tests for a Benefit 3 pension and the stated reason for his leaving employment.

41. On 5 September 2004 Mr Adkins submitted a stage one application under the IDR procedure.  He made the point that prior to leaving employment he was assured that termination of employment would not prevent him from a possible entitlement to a Benefit 3 pension while the reason given by the Trustees for rejecting his application was simply that he had not left employment by reason of ill health.   His application was acknowledged within seven days of receipt.

42. On 26 October 2004 Mr Adkins was issued with a stage one response to his application under the Fund’s internal dispute resolution (IDR) procedure:

“I am sorry to have to inform you that the trustee’s Stage one panel has reluctantly concluded that the trustees have no alternative but to decline your appeal on this subject, on the grounds that you satisfy some, but not all, of the necessary requirements for being awarded a Benefit 3 pension.

To summarise the Panel agreed that:

a)
You have left the employment of a Contributing member.

b)
At the time you left employment, you were under normal retirement age.

c)
At the time you left employment you were suffering from a medical condition that was likely to incapacitate you for an indefinite period from doing your ordinary work.

However, the Panel determined that, as a question of fact, the reason for you leaving employment was redundancy and not ill health.  Consequently, the Trustee has no power to award you a Benefit 3 pension as Rule 18.A (i) requires that the reason for leaving employment must have been incapacity through physical injury or ill health, if a Contributing member is to qualify potentially for this pension….”

43. On 24 November 2004 Dr Makepeace provided his report on Mr Adkins:

“Kenny Graves, HR Officer Imagedata contacted me on 20 January 2003 informing me that Mr Adkins had requested a FOH pension because of hypothyroidism.  My understanding is that this request was made on 16 January.

Hypothyroidism is a deficiency disorder, which usually responds extremely well to thyroid hormone replacement tablets.  Thus I was able to inform Kenny that it was reasonable to anticipate that Mr Adkins would respond to treatment and that it would not prevent Mr Adkins from working. Therefore he would not meet criteria for a FOH pension, unless he developed significant complications associated with the disease.

Kenny Graves contacted me about the second request on 4 June 2003 when he informed me that Mr Adkins had been diagnosed with Chronic Fatigue Syndrome and had requested a FOH pension on the basis of this diagnosis.  I understand Mr Adkins made this request on 2 June.

I advised that the local Occupational Physician should assess Mr Adkins.  Dr Thomas subsequently saw Mr Adkins on 17 July and his report was faxed to Kenny on 20 August and I received a copy shortly after.  I requested further information about Mr Adkins’ job and his previous sickness absence record.  And on 23 September I informed Kenny that it was my opinion Mr Adkins did not meet the criteria for a FOH pension.

Unbeknown to me at the time Mr Adkins had also e-mailed Kenny on 23 September to inform him that he had seen Dr Weir, Consultant Physician.  Dr Weir has a special interest in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome and Mr Adkins stated that it was Dr Weir’s opinion that “I will remain unwell and unable to work for the foreseeable future”.  Moreover Mr Adkins had posted a copy of a report by Dr Weir and requested that it be forwarded to Dr Makepeace “in support of my failure of health pension.”

The report from Dr Weir strongly supported medical retirement, and was contrary to my opinion of 23 September.  Dr Weir was retired from the NHS, and it was my understanding that he was not providing ongoing clinical care to Mr Adkins.  The report precipitated further discussion between Kenny and myself about the need for further assessment.  We agreed that the best course of action for Mr Adkins and the company was to obtain a further assessment from an appropriate specialist.  Another option would have been to decline Mr Adkins application for a FOH pension, however if he appealed, I was confident that the trustees would also request a specialist report.  This option was not chosen because the appeal process would in itself delay the commissioning of a report, and potentially cause more distress to Mr Adkins.

Since Dr Thomas was retiring from medical practice, I asked Dr Li to see Mr Adkins, so that he could examine Mr Adkins and with a view to arranging a referral to a Consultant with expertise in both psychiatry and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome.  Since I was concerned that there may be an underlying psychiatric disorder which if present would need to be assessed with regard to a FOH pension and moreover would require specific treatment. 

Mr Adkins was seen by Dr Li on 28 October and agreed with my view that referral to a Consultant with expertise in both psychiatry and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome was appropriate.  Dr Simon Wesley, Consultant Psychiatrist was identified, however was not accepting private referrals due to pressure of work at that time and recommended Dr Libby, Consultant Psychiatrist.

Mr Adkins in a series of emails expressed the view that referral to Dr Libby was inappropriate and he was unwilling to accept referral.  However, on 30 December he did agree to be referred to Dr Libby.

Dr Libby saw Mr Adkins on 23 January 2004, and a report was issued on 8 March.”  

44. On 2 December 2004 the Fund wrote to Mr Adkins in response to a number of e-mails that he had sent.  The Fund provided him with an expanded version of its stage one IDR response, as follows:

“I am sorry to have to inform you that the Trustees’ Stage 1 Panel has reluctantly concluded that the Trustees have no alternative but to decline your appeal on this subject, on the grounds that you satisfy some, but not all, of the necessary requirements for being awarded a Benefit 3 pension.

To summarise the Panel agreed that:

a)
You have left the employment of a Contributing Company.

b)
At the time you left employment, you were under normal retirement age.

c)
At the time you left employment, you were entitled to 10 or more years Pensionable Service.

d)
At the time you left employment, you were suffering from a medical condition that was likely to incapacitate you for an indefinite period from doing your ordinary work.

However, the Panel determined that, as a question of fact, the reason for you leaving employment was redundancy and not ill health.  Consequently, the Trustees have no power to award you a Benefit 3 pension as Rule 18.A (i) requires that the reason for leaving employment must have been incapacity through physical injury or ill health, if a Contributing Member is to qualify potentially for this pension.”

45. On 21 January 2005 the Employer wrote to Mr Adkins about why Dr Makepeace had changed his opinion following consideration of Dr Libby’s report but not in response to Dr Weir’s report.  The Employer said the main differences between the two reports were:

· Dr Libby was not a physician charged with his care and free therefore to report the whole of his findings to the Trustees;
· Dr Weir had examined him in September 2003 whereas Dr Libby examined him 4 months later.  The significance being that the longer treatment continues without recovery the stronger the presumption would be that a medical condition might persist indefinitely;

· Dr Libby had been recommended as having expertise in CFS and depressive/psychiatric disorders;

· Dr Weir’s diagnosis was CFS whereas Dr Libby’s central diagnosis was of “co-morbidity”.

The Employer added that Dr Makepeace would have considered all of the co-morbid conditions identified by Dr Libby and the greater reliance he was able to place on Dr Libby’s report before deciding that on the balance of probabilities his prognosis for recovery was sufficiently poor that he could be considered as indefinitely incapacitated from doing his normal work.

46. On 30 January 2005 Mr Adkins wrote to the pensions department requesting a copy of the procedures followed by the trustees for considering an IH retirement application and raising three concerns:

· It was not clear that prior to 20 October 2003 the Trustees had considered the report of Dr Rodrigues;

· There was an apparent failure by the Trustees to have executed a full investigation and to have provided him with a full explanation;

· why he was not made aware of an appeal procedure when his application was first rejected in November 2002.

47. On 2 February 2005 Mr Adkins wrote to the pensions department again with 12 further queries relating to the issue of his medical condition and its prognosis in September 2003 and the Trustees’ failure to properly explain what prognosis was taken into account when Dr Makepeace reached his determination in September 2003; why he had not been provided with a copy of that determination; clarification of the differences between the reports of Dr Libby and Dr Weir; the ability of Dr Makepeace to determine the case;  make a determination.

48. On 8 March 2005 Mr Adkins’ GP wrote to the Trustees:

“I would be grateful if you would reconsider your decision…not to grant his pension on a medical grounds retirement basis, as it is clear that my initial diagnosis of a Chronic Fatigue Syndrome secondary to the viral infection he suffered in August 2002 was the correct one as borne out by subsequent assessments…

…I can understand that in view of the short period of time Mr Adkins did suffer with his illness, prior to his redundancy notice on 21 October 2002, that it would have not been possible for Dr Makepeace I.C.I. Chief Occupational Physician, to confirm this diagnosis of Chronic Fatigue Syndrome secondary to the viral gastroenteritis he suffered in August 2002- a diagnosis that can only be confirmed with the regular review of his condition with time – so as to give an opinion at the time he was required to give the decision as to whether he satisfied the requirements for ill health retirement rather than redundancy.

I would be grateful for your reconsideration of your decision now that it has been firmly confirmed that Mr Adkins’ diagnosis is Chronic Fatigue Syndrome that developed before his redundancy notice in October 2002 following his viral infection in August 2002 to grant him his retirement on medical grounds.” 

49. On 10 March 2005 the pensions department wrote to Mr Adkins saying that it was preparing answers to the questions he had raised.  It also stated that it acknowledged that its delay in providing answers might delay him constructing his appeal under stage two of the IDR procedures but that in principle he had until 26 April 2005 to do so, given that an expanded stage one decision had been issued on 2 December 2004. 

50. On 30 March 2005 the pensions department wrote to Mr Adkins providing its response to his queries of 31 January and 2 February 2005 and allowing him until 2 June 2005 to submit an appeal under stage two of the IDR procedures.  On 31 March 2005 Mr Adkins was informed that the deadline for allowing a submission under stage two had been extended to 16 June 2005. 

51. On 2 May 2005 Mr Adkins wrote to the Employer stating that his GP had reviewed his medical history and had diagnosed him with having CFS.  He also submitted various e-mails in response to the stage one IDR decision that had been issued and the Trustee states it received these on 12 June 2005.

52. On 19 May 2005 Mr Adkins wrote to the pensions department saying that he had been denied the right to a proper appeal under stage one of the IDR procedures because his appeal against the medical determination of September 2003 had not been addressed. 

53. On 20 May 2005 the pensions department replied by saying that Mr Adkins was clearly dissatisfied with the stage one decision, which could only be resolved by a submission to stage two.  On 22 May 2005 Mr Adkins submitted an application under stage two.  He main thrust of his appeal was that the Employer had accepted by virtue of their letters of 11 March and 24 March 2004 that he met the criteria for health retirement and had therefore accepted that he had left employment by reason of ill health while the Trustees had singularly ignored this fact by deeming him to have left employment by reason of redundancy.  

54. On 23 August 2005 the Employer responded to a number of questions posed by the Appeals Committee (a committee of the Trustee which has express delegated authority to consider and determine matters at Stage 2 of the IDR procedure). 

55. In its response to the Appeals Committee, the Employer stated that Mr Adkins was among four from the Technical Group to be made redundant and that his work had been absorbed into the work of others as a result of a restructuring programme, the aim of which was to reduce the overall cost of the group to the business.  The Trustee states that the Appeals Committee was satisfied, on the basis of information provided that Mr Adkins was fairly selected for redundancy and concluded that the true reason Mr Adkins left employment was redundancy.

56. On 12 October 2005 Mr Adkins was provided with a stage two IDR response.  This confirmed the stage one decision.  In essence it stated:

· that he had left employment by reason of redundancy and was not selected for redundancy because of any ill health;  

· his redundancy notice had not been revoked and expired on 20 October 2003;

· his application had not been completed by this time although he had been informed by his employer that his application would continue beyond the termination of his employment;

· Rule 18 of the Trust Deed and Rules requires the Trustee to be satisfied that the physical injury or ill health from which the member is suffering is likely to incapacitate them permanently or for an indefinite period from doing their ordinary work at the time their service terminates.

57. Mr Adkins e-mailed the Committee with his concerns regarding the Stage 2 decision.  The Committee decided to deal with these issues and met on 6 January 2006.  Minute items 100.4.4 and 100.4.5 record:

“It was reasonable for Dr Makepeace to delay making a decision in Mr Adkins’ case until he had all the medical information he felt he needed to reach an informed decision for the purpose of Rule 18(A)(i).

In the Committee’s view, the time taken by Dr Makepeace to deal with Mr Adkins’ case was reasonable and not excessive.  In addition, the Committee did not consider that Dr Makepeace had failed to obtain formal prognosis.”

58. The Trustees state that in reaching this decision the Appeals Committee considered the information supplied by Dr Makepeace dated 24 November 2004.  It also considered the underlying medical information referred to in that paper. 
Submissions

59. Mr Adkins submitted that

59.1
The main purpose of the Fund is to provide a pension which includes a pension on becoming incapacitated.

59.2
In essence he satisfied the incapacity criteria at the time of leaving employment and ill health is a qualifying reason for leaving employment.  It is the Trustees’ negligence that is responsible for him being denied that pension and they should not, therefore, be allowed to reconsider the matter.  The Ombudsman, should, instead, direct the Trustees to make payment with effect from the date he left employment. 

59.3
The rules are poorly drafted.  Rule 18(A) could be construed as allowing the Trustees the power to award a Benefit 3 pension under rule 18(A) notwithstanding the termination of a contract of employment. The Employer has misinterpreted ‘employment’, within the meaning of Rule 18.  It has also misdirected itself, as the formal reason for his leaving could not be determined until the conclusion of his medical assessment, which was not completed until after October 2003.  

59.4
Mr Adkins states that at the time the rules were drafted, redundancies were unforeseen and they are, therefore, in their current form inappropriate for such situations.  He says that there clearly was no intention at the time of drafting the rules that a member who satisfied the medical criteria for a failure of health pension be excluded from entitlement because of a concurrent redundancy.

59.5
The Employer clearly accepted Dr Makepeace’s certification of 8 March 2004 and he therefore remained eligible for ill health retirement in the period between 15 July 2003 and 15 April 2004.  There was also a conflict of interest in Mr Amos of the Trustee Board instructing the Employer, as he did.

59.6
The Employer’s response of 11 November 2002 clearly reveals that the Employer failed to consider what it was under a duty of care to consider and prevented him from making any further application for many months.

59.7
A determination of frustration of contract would be consistent with the approach taken by the courts, in cases where the medical evidence confirms that the member’s medical position satisfies the medical criteria of the scheme.  He cites Agco Ltd v Massey Ferguson Works Pension Trust Ltd [2003] in this instance. 

59.8
The Trustees’ argument, that his contract was not frustrated by his incapacity, because the contract had been served with a 12-month contractual notice, thereby changing its nature, is flawed.

59.9
Mr Adkins agrees that in most cases, frustration of contract will apply, where an employer wishes to avoid having to pay an employee’s salary and other benefits.  However, the correct approach to be adopted, in his case is to be found in Bingham LJ, in J Lauritzen AS v. Wijsmuller BV [1990]:

“The doctrine of frustration was evolved to mitigate the rigor of the common law’s insistence on literal performance of absolute promises.  The object of the doctrine was to give effect to the demands of justice, to achieve a just and reasonable result, to do what is reasonable and fair, as an expedient to escape from injustice where such would result from enforcement of a contract in its literal terms after significant change in circumstances”.


59.10
Despite the Employer’s protestations, his employment contract was not frustrated, as both he and the Employer behaved as if his contract continued and he accepted a redundancy payment.  Mr Adkins says that his sick pay expired on 16 May 2003 and he did not ask to be paid beyond that date.  He adds that the retention of a P45 does not mean the frustration has not occurred and he was led to believe that acceptance of redundancy would not prejudice any application for ill health retirement.  
59.11
He says the termination of a contract by operation of the doctrine of contract is not confined in law to contracts that would otherwise be of indefinite duration and there is nothing that prevents a court from determining frustration of contract in the case of an employment contact of finite duration.  Finally there was an expectation on the part of the Employer that the terms and conditions of his 1999 contract, would remain in force throughout the course of his 12-month contractual notice period.

59.12
He states that August 2002 is arguably the time of frustration, the time of the onset of his CFS, and therefore the time at which it was established that his permanent incapacity commenced.  However, he states that as it was decided that 20 October 2003, should be the date at which his Benefit 3 pension should be backdated, 19 October 2003 should also be considered the date on which his contract had been frustrated.

59.13
The Trustees have misconstrued rule 18 and their decision reached on 22 September 2003, against the weight of medical evidence, was perverse.

59.14
The Trustees must accept overall responsibility, even where delegation exists and they failed in this case.  They failed to investigate fully his eligibility at time of leaving and failed to refer him to the Company Medical Officer until after the termination of his contract.  They also failed to investigate many aspects of law in connection with the Employer’s determination that he was eligible.  The Employer’s decision has bound them contractually, led to him having a legitimate expectation of an ill health pension and the Trustees are estopped from intervening in that decision as they did in April 2004.   Their intervention in April 2004 not only constitutes maladministration but represents a breach of their fiduciary duty and a breach of trust.
59.15
The Trustees should have identified that Dr Makepeace failed to seek specialist opinion from Dr Weir and failed to take up Dr Weir’s offer for further information in September 2003, instead seeking the opinion of a psychiatrist about his depression, which was irrelevant.

59.16
He is concerned that information given to Dr Makepeace may have been misleading or inaccurate.  Although Dr Makepeace relied on the diagnosis of hypothyroidism, he failed to identify that it was actually Hashimoto’s Autoimmune Thyroid Disease (HAIT), confirmed by Dr Bodmer on 24 February 2003 and had he done so by having sought a specialist opinion he could have identified the accurate long-term prognosis of his condition.  
59.17
Dr Makepeace failed to carry out a fair and balanced consideration of the medical evidence, including that provided by Dr Rodrigues, dated 23 July 2003 and Dr Thomas, which clearly showed he met the longevity criteria, set by the rules.  

59.18
Dr Makepeace also failed to promptly obtain a specialist opinion having been made aware of these prognoses and disregarded the medical evidence provided by Dr Weir which stated he satisfied rule 18(A) (i).  
59.19
He says he was not provided with a copy of the opinion provided by Dr Makepeace and was not therefore given an opportunity to appeal then. 

59.20
In line with the Spreadborough decision, medical evidence, including that provided by Dr Rodrigues and Dr Findlay reveals his CFS to have been present before he was dismissed.  It was perverse of the Trustees, not to have determined he had satisfied the conditions of Rule 18, when evidence had been provided, during his contractual notice period and the full medical process had not been completed, until after 20 October 2003.

59.21
The Trustees effectively treated the appeal instigated by Dr Makepeace, accompanied by the report of Dr Weir, as a new application from deferred status, despite the fact it was initiated in September 2003, a month before the termination of his contract. Dr Makepeace dismissed Dr Weir’s report and Trustees were excluded from the process.  Dr Makepeace delayed arranging for further specialist opinion, until after his contract had been terminated, although the medical evidence available before 20 October 2003 had supported his application. He refers to Saffil Pension Scheme v Curzon [2005] in this context.  

59.22
The Trustees have produced no medical evidence to distinguish his medical position at 22 September 2003 and that on 20 October 2003, proving his medical position had remained unchanged.  The Trustees’ affirmative medical determination should be backdated to 23 September 2003.

59.23
Dr Makepeace, without authority or consent, took matters into his own hands and unilaterally invoked the wrong procedure, that of Rule 18(E), causing delays and taking the affirmative determination outside his contractual employment.  

59.24
The medical reports commissioned by Dr Makepeace, those of Dr Libby and Dr Thomas, failed to address the criteria set by the rules and contained no prognosis.  Further, Dr Makepeace and Dr Thomas, incorrectly equated the incapacity longevity criteria of Rule 18(A), with the requirement that his ill health should likely persist to at least his normal retirement age of 62, which he says is irrelevant to the consideration of indefinite incapacity. 

59.25
The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS), put forward a proposal to the Trustees, to resolve the question of whether he satisfied the medical criteria, set by Rule 18 during the course of his contractual employment, but this approach was not adopted.   

59.26
The Trustees delegated responsibility to Dr Makepeace and have relied on this as justifying their failure to get involved in a determination under Rule 18(A)(i), yet refused to stand by the decision of Dr Makepeace to award a Benefit 3 pension.  The Trustees have relied on an overly restrictive interpretation of the first phrase of Rule 18 A (i) and in so doing have arrived at an interpretation that was not intended under the Rules. The Trustees, also, failed to consider awarding a pension under Rule 18(F).

59.27
The Trustees’ failure to properly investigate claims of maladministration, submitted through the Scheme’s IDR procedures, also constitutes maladministration. 

59.28
Comparison has been made between his application and that of another applicant, Mr W, whose case was rejected by the Pensions Ombudsman.  Mr Adkins says that in his case it was agreed that he satisfied the criteria set by Rule 18, at the time of leaving, which was not the situation with Mr W.  The Employer, confirmed to him, that if it was proved that he satisfied the criteria set by Rule 18, then he would be treated as leaving on the grounds of ill health, which was not so with Mr W.

59.29
He was not aware until December 2004, because he had not been told he had not satisfied the medical condition for a Benefit 3 pension.  
59.30
The fact that Rule 18(A) (i) is silent about the grounds on which a member leaves employment, adds further weight to the argument that subject to meeting also the conditions of 18(A) (ii) and (iii), it is only the conditions pertaining to the member’s medical position, that needs to be met, for the award of a Benefit 3 pension.  

59.31
The Trustees should be directed to make an award of compensation for expenses amounting to £3,450.98 and for distress and inconvenience suffered.

The Trustees

60. The Trustees submitted that

60.1
The legal aspects of the redundancy and the redundancy appeals process should be treated as outside the scope of this determination. The Trustees have no control over the way in which a member’s service is terminated.

60.2
The Trustees do not agree with Mr Adkins’ interpretation of Rule 18.  Indeed the medical test under Rule 18(A) requires the Trustees to be satisfied that the member is incapable of carrying out his ordinary work not any work.  Whether Mr Adkins could be redeployed was not a matter for the Trustees and was not relevant to the Trustees’ decision under Rule 18.

60.3
Although the consent of Dr Makepeace, the Chief Medical Officer is not required per se, he is in fact properly appointed as the medical adviser under Rule 18(A) and has delegated authority to decide whether the medical criteria have been satisfied.  There is no maladministration in relation to the delegated authority of Dr Makepeace.  That delegation is very clear.  It relates only to the medical criteria and the power to determine all other matters is reserved to the administrator.  The delegation made in October 2003 was merely formalising the arrangements which had been in place for a number of years.  The formal delegation was in place at the time Mr Adkins’ service terminated.  

60.4
In any event any perceived imperfection in the delegation was corrected during the appeals process as Mr Adkins’ case was fully reviewed both at Stage 1 and Stage 2, including the medical aspects. 

60.5
There were a number of actions undertaken between 4 June 2003 when the Employer contacted Dr Makepeace and 23 September 2003 when Dr Makepeace made his initial decision.  Dr Makepeace had to arrange for an examination of Mr Adkins by Dr Thomas at a mutually convenient time, Dr Thomas had to produce his report which then had to be reviewed by Dr Makepeace.  Clarification by Dr Makepeace of Mr Adkins’ role and a review of the further information requested to reach a decision was also necessary.  These arrangements were being implemented during the summer months, often when holiday leave makes such arrangements difficult to organise.      

60.6
The Appeals Committee examined the length of time taken by Dr Makepeace to decide Mr Adkins’ case when it met on 6 January 2006.  It concluded that the period of time was not unreasonable.  In reaching this decision, the Appeals Committee considered the information supplied by Dr Makepeace and also considered the underlying medical information. The decision of the Appeals Committee cannot be described as perverse or one which no reasonable body of trustees would reach based on the facts. 

60.7
It is difficult to see the relevance of any perceived delay up to September 2003 as this precedes the date on which Mr Adkins’ service terminated.  There were a number of actions undertaken during the period from 4 June 2003 and when Dr Makepeace reached his decision on 23 September 2003.  Dr Thomas met Mr Adkins on 17 July 2003 and provided a report one month later.  Dr Thomas was an independent contractor employed by Gipping Occupational Health, serving the Imagedata site and not employed directly by the Employer or the Trustee.  No further evidence came to light prior to the termination of Mr Adkins’ contract which allowed Dr Makepeace to change his mind.
60.8
Mr Adkins has made various allegations regarding Dr Makepeace’s clinical judgement and his professional conduct.  The Trustees have not sought to assess Dr Makepeace’s clinical judgement as they are not qualified to do so and it would be inappropriate given that authority had been delegated.
 
60.9
Employer consent is not required for the payment of an ill health pension and the Trustees did not seek consent from the Employer. Interaction with the Employer was limited to obtaining information to enable them to establish the true reason Mr Adkins’ service was terminated.  

60.10
Under Rule 18(A) of the Trust Deed and Rules of the Fund, the Trustees have no power to award an ill health pension to a member whose service terminates on the grounds of redundancy.  At the time Mr Adkins’ service was terminated Dr Makepeace did not have sufficient medical evidence to enable him to decide that Mr A satisfied the criteria under 18(A) (i).  Dr Weir’s report did not change his view.

60.11
The Trustees had no control over the reason Mr Adkins left employment and there can, therefore, be no causal link established between any delay by the Trustees in dealing with the application and the termination of employment.  The corollary is that any delay cannot either be the cause of him being deprived of a right to an ill health pension as he was deprived of that right when his employment was terminated by reason of redundancy.  
60.12
It would be inappropriate for the Trustees, if directed to retake the decision to take into account evidence post Mr Adkins’ termination of employment.  There has been no injustice as everything has been reconsidered under stages one and two of the IDR procedure. 

60.13
The main issue is whether Mr Adkins left employment “by reason of permanent incapacity arising from physical injury or ill health.”

60.14
If the true reason Mr Adkins left employment was because his role was made redundant then the Trustees have no power to award an ill health pension under Rule 18.  This has been confirmed by the Pensions Ombudsman in a previous determination. 

60.15
The commencement and termination of employment is a matter between an employer and an employee.  The Trustees are of the view that, under Rule 18(A) (i), they may investigate the reason given by the Employer to ensure it was the true reason the member left employment.  This is in contrast to the wording in Rule 19(A).  Under Rule 19(A), if the Contributing Company determine that the reason for leaving employment is misconduct, the Trustees have no power to challenge or look behind that determination.  However, there is no such wording in Rule 18(A).  

60.16
The Trustees have a duty to ensure that the stated reason is the true reason the member left employment.  In some cases this may be of benefit to the member, for example if he was unfairly selected for redundancy because of his ill-health.

60.17
The reason for leaving is a question of fact and must be determined with reference to the circumstances surrounding the case and with reference to the point in time at which the termination occurs.

60.18
As a matter of fact, the reason Mr Adkins left employment on 20 October 2003 was because his 12 month notice period expired leading to the termination of his employment contract.

60.19
The Appeals Committee asked itself a number of questions regarding Mr Adkins’ redundancy.  It wanted to ensure that he was properly selected for redundancy and that the reason he was selected was not ill health.

60.20
Although Dr Makepeace continued to assess Mr Adkins’ medical condition beyond termination of his employment, the Trustees do not agree that this binds them to change the original reason for leaving notified to the Trustees by the Employer.

60.21
The Trustees have no discretion to award an ill health pension.  The Trustees’ power is limited to establishing the facts as they existed at the date the member’s service terminated and then apply those to the criteria set out in the rules.  A statement by the Employer as to the reason for leaving is one factor the Trustee would take into account, but any such statement is not given a status under the rules and it does not bind the Trustees.

60.22
The Trustees deny that it colluded with the Employer or applied undue influence with the aim of denying Mr Adkins an ill health pension.

60.23
Mr Adkins alleges that there was insufficient medical evidence for Dr Makepeace to give determination on his medical condition prior to termination of his employment.  The Trustees state that Dr Makepeace is Group Occupational Physician and consequently holds the most senior medical rank within the Employer within the UK.  He is a member of the Faculty of Occupational Medicine and is an accredited specialist in Occupational Health.

60.24
Dr Makepeace has confirmed that to determine whether the medical criteria under Rule 18(A) have been satisfied, he requires an accurate and well-founded diagnosis, which is supported by objective clinical assessment and the relevant clinical investigation results.  In addition he requires an understanding of current treatment, response to treatment to date and whether there is any planned future treatment.   

60.25
The Trustees have maintained throughout that they consider it appropriate to rely on the expertise of Dr Makepeace and that to do so cannot be regarded as maladministration given his experience both of occupational health matters and the Fund requirements.

60.26
Mr Adkins argues that Dr Makepeace should have the power to determine his medical retirement.  Dr Makepeace had delegated authority to determine the medical aspects of Mr Adkins’ ill health application.  

60.27
Mr Adkins’ claim that the Trustees have sought to frustrate the main purpose of the Fund by not awarding Mr Adkins an ill health pension is strongly refuted.  Mr Adkins claims that the Trustees have incorrectly inferred an implied power into the Rules – that of determining the reason for leaving employment – and that the Trustees purport to apply this power to defeat the main purpose of the Fund.  The Trustees reject this claim.  Even though Mr Adkins has not been granted an ill health pension, he remains entitled to deferred benefits consistent with the main purpose of the Fund to provide retirement benefits.  The Trustees are required to administer the Fund in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules.  To act in any other way would be ultra vires.  The Trustees must determine the reason for leaving employment, as this is central to the claim for an ill health pension under Rule 18 (A).  

60.28
Mr Adkins believes that Rule 18 (F) substantiates his argument that the reason for leaving employment requirement is not central to the payment of the pension.  The Trustees do not agree with this interpretation.   Previous Pension Ombudsman determinations have held that in order for a Benefit 3 pension to be paid, the member must have left employment by reason of permanent incapacity. 

The Employer

61. The Employer submitted that

61.1
Although Mr Adkins has questioned legal aspects of the redundancy and the redundancy appeals process, these matters should be treated as outside the scope of this determination. Mr Adkins has not supported, with evidence, his claim that his employment ended by way of frustration of contract before his redundancy notice expired.  

61.2
The Employer denies that Mr Adkins’ redundancy was flawed.  His employment was lawfully terminated by reason of redundancy on 20 October 2003.  Mr Adkins’ state of health was not, as he claims, ‘a major influencing factor’ or indeed a factor to any event.  

61.3
The fact that alternative vacancies within the Employer were considered does not mean that the termination of Mr Adkins’ employment was not by reason of redundancy.  From the point of view of the rules, Mr Adkins’ employment was terminated and the termination falls clearly within section 139(1) (b) (i) of the Employment Rights Act 1996, namely:

“the fact that the requirements of [the business for the purposes of which the employee was employed] for employees to carry out work of a particular kind…have ceased or diminished or are expected to cease or diminish.” 

61.4
Mr Adkins suggests that his condition, CFS was present when notified of redundancy in September 2002 and this invalidated his redundancy.  At the time Mr Adkins’ employment was terminated the Trustees’ medical adviser, Dr Makepeace was unwilling on the basis of the medical evidence available to him at the time, to certify that Mr Adkins met the medical criteria to qualify for an incapacity pension.  It would have been inappropriate for the Employer to have taken any steps, which would have stopped Mr Adkins’ redundancy taking effect.

61.5
The Employer believed that, as Dr Makepeace continued to assess Mr Adkins post 20 October 2002, notwithstanding his redundancy, there remained a possibility of an incapacity pension being awarded by the Trustees. However, Mr Adkins’ CFS was not diagnosed until May 2003 and even then with some uncertainty.

61.6
Such belief continued until after the letter dated 24 March 2004.  Mr Adkins believes that this letter is evidence that the Employer changed the reason for his leaving employment, from redundancy to ill health.  The Employer accepts that the contents of that letter were inaccurate.  The Employer also acknowledges that the author of the letter did not have the authority to make such a statement.

61.7
From the Employer’s perspective, this is a question of fact: the Employer consistently maintained that – as a matter of employment law- Mr Adkins’ service terminated on the grounds of redundancy.  

61.8
Mr Adkins refers to an application for an incapacity pension which he made on 30 October 2002 and the Employer’s response of 11 November 2002 that he could not be considered for the pension because the reason for his leaving was redundancy.  This, he alleges, was incorrect as a matter of law and so a breach of contract: a breach of the implied duty of good faith.  The Employer does not accept that this statement constituted a breach of contract.  The statement was made in good faith based on the Employer’s understanding of the   Fund’s requirements at that time.  The Employer continued to act in good faith by assessing Mr Adkins’ health throughout the period in question.  The Employer refers to reports from the Occupational Health Advisor dated 29 October 2002, 12 November 2002, 3 December 2002, 28 January 2003, 25 February 2003 and 4 March 2003 and the report of the Employer’s Occupational Health Physician, Dr Thomas dated 12 February 2003, all evidencing the counselling and support which the Employer arranged.

61.9
Diagnoses of Mr Adkins’ condition varied.  On 16 January 2003 Mr Adkins notified the Employer by e-mail that he was suffering from myxoedema.  The Employer consulted Dr Makepeace as to whether this might qualify Mr Adkins for an incapacity pension but in Dr Makepeace advised that the condition was not such as to qualify.   

61.10
Mr Adkins was seen by the OHA on 21 January, then by an endocrinologist, Dr Bodmer, and then by Dr Thomas on 10 February 2003.  Dr Thomas’ diagnosis was depression for which counselling was arranged.      

61.11
The variance and uncertainty of diagnoses is apparent: irritable bowel syndrome, depression and hypothyroidism were all diagnosed.  On 8 April Mr Adkins said that the myxoedema was treatable.  CFS was only raised as a possibility in May 2003.  This appears to have led to Mr Adkins asking on 2 June 2003 to be assessed for an incapacity pension.  

61.12
Mr Adkins has complained of delay when dealing with his application.  The Employer makes the following observations regarding this issue:

· Mr Adkins made an application on 2 June 2003 and the Employer referred this to Dr Makepeace two days later.

· Dr Makepeace advised that the Employer’s medical officer, Dr Thomas should assess Mr Adkins.  This was carried out on 17 July and Dr Thomas’ report was received by the Employer on 20 August and faxed to Dr Makepeace.

· Information then requested by Dr Makepeace was provided to him on 8 September 2003.

· Dr Makepeace gave his assessment on 23 September 2003, the same time as Mr Adkins sent an e-mail referring to a report he had obtained (without the Employer’s or Dr Makepeace’s knowledge) from Consultant Physician, Dr Weir, which stated that he believed Mr Adkins, was suffering from CFS.

· Having received Dr Weir’s report, Dr Makepeace decided to commission a specialist’s report of the kind that the Trustee would expect to see where there is uncertainty regarding medical evidence.  This process took until 8 March 2004.  There was some delay between November and December 2003 whilst a specialist acceptable to Mr Adkins was appointed.

· Mr Adkins alleges that the Employer should have communicated Dr Weir’s report of 8 September 2003 to the Trustees.  However, Dr Makepeace was acting in his capacity as representative of the Trustees and it would have been inappropriate for them to considering the procedure in place.

· Mr Adkins suggests this because he believes Dr Weir’s report would have enabled the trustee to have reached a finding of incapacity before his employment ended on 20 October 2003.  The Employer supports the stance taken by Dr Makepeace in seeking another specialist opinion in light of Dr Weir’s report.

· Mr Adkins was not immediately made aware of Dr Makepeace’s assessment of 23 September 2003, but advised by phone on 2 October 2003.  The Employer believes the interval if 10 days caused Mr Adkins no material disadvantage.

61.13
Mr Adkins has alleged that the Employer attempted to pervert the course of his application.  It is common ground that there was a telephone conversation of 2 October 2003 between the Employer and Mr Adkins about Dr Makepeace’s position on the application.  In an initial conversation with the Employer held on 23 September 2003 Dr Makepeace gave his opinion to be that Mr Adkins did not qualify for the pension.  Mr Adkins was told that further opinion would be sought and Dr Makepeace having read Dr Weir’s report decided not to reject the application.  It is common ground that Mr Adkins was told that a further opinion would be sought.

61.14
When Mr Adkins’ employment was terminated all parties were aware that Dr Makepeace was unwilling, on the basis of the medical evidence then available to him, to certify that Mr Adkins met the medical condition for an incapacity pension and it would have been inappropriate to have terminated his employment on grounds other then redundancy.

61.15
Information provided by the Employer to Mr Adkins in letter dated 15 October 2003, that there was no requirement for him to remain employed in order to be considered for an incapacity pension was accurate.

61.16
The Employer accepts that with hindsight that it may not have been sufficiently clear in communication with Mr Adkins as to the process by which an incapacity pension might be provided.  Mr Adkins might have understood it to mean he would be entitled to an incapacity pension if the medical test was satisfied, whereas the Employer understood it to mean that it was only a possibility subject to the discretion of the Trustees and possibly involving Mr Adkins following the appeals procedure.

61.17
The Employer denies Mr Adkins’ allegation of collusion on the part of the Employer and the Trustee in delaying matters so as to deny him an incapacity pension.  The Employer believes that at the time of giving notice of his redundancy up until the effective date of redundancy and thereafter, it acted properly. 

CONCLUSIONS 

62. Mr Adkins’ application had to be dealt with in accordance with Rule 18. (A) (I).  This states that a Benefit 3 pension was payable if he left employment by reason of serious and permanent incapacity, arising from physical injury, or ill health.  Whether Mr Adkins met the criteria for the payment of an incapacity pension, was therefore a matter of fact for the Trustees to determine.  

63. In coming to their conclusion as to whether Mr Adkins met the criteria, the Trustees should only have considered relevant matters and set aside any irrelevant matters.  I can only interfere with the decision where the Trustees have failed to ask the correct questions, failed to direct themselves correctly in law, failed to take into account all relevant but no irrelevant factors, or have arrived at a perverse decision (in other words, a decision which no reasonable body of trustees could reach). I could only exceptionally substitute a decision in place of theirs (for example if I thought it was impossible for them to reach a fresh decision on the proper basis, which I do not).  
64. However, if the process resulted in delay in reaching a decision, even though the decision was reached rationally, or if there is sufficient doubt about the robustness of the process, then there may have been maladministration such that the decision should be reconsidered.

65. There is no doubt that the actual reason for termination of employment was redundancy.  However, that is not in my view completely decisive.  If Mr Adkins had not been subject to a redundancy notice, but had been suffering serious ill-health, what would have happened?  No doubt he would still have applied for ill-health early retirement whilst remaining in service.  If he had been granted it, his employment would have been terminated.  If not, his employment would have continued either until he returned to work or until it was terminated for a reason other than redundancy.  So if, as a result of maladministration, Mr Adkins’ application did not receive full consideration before his redundancy took effect, then he may be entitled to a remedy.

66. It is worth noting at this stage that the fact that Mr Adkins was subject to a redundancy notice was not relevant to consideration of his application.  If, instead of being made redundant, he had left for reasons that would entitle him to an ill-health pension, then that was his entitlement – regardless of impending redundancy.  This was not made clear when Mr Adkins first contacted the Employer in late October 2002.  However, since at the time he would not have qualified, no significant harm was caused.
67. The roles taken by the Employer and the Trustees in the case were less than clear.  First, the Employer says that when it approached Dr Makepeace for an opinion it was acting as an agent of the Trustees (although I have not seen any evidence that the Employer was supposed to be acting in this role). Initially Dr Makepeace did not have formal delegated authority to make a decision on the Trustees’ behalf.  However, it seems he was asked to give his opinion direct to the Employer, in effect cutting the Trustees out of any decision.  (And I am not anyway satisfied by an explanation that there was some sort of de facto delegation before the formal delegation).
68. Next, when Mr Adkins asked about deferring his redundancy pending the outcome of his ill-health retirement application, the Employer told him that it was not necessary for him to remain employed. The reason for his leaving (insofar as it affected entitlement to pension) was a matter for the Trustees, not the Employer, and, as it turned out, what Mr Adkins was told was directly contrary to the view that the Trustees took.
69. Further evidence of the Employer’s apparent misunderstanding of its role is that in March 2004 it told Mr Adkins that he did qualify for an ill-health pension, and told the pension department to put the pension into payment.  This happened without direct authority from the Trustees.  It is not clear whether the Employer (through its employee, even if acting without authority) thought that it was in a position to make the decision, or thought that Dr Makepeace had made it on the Trustees’ behalf.

70. That leads me to the question of the Trustees’ delegation to Dr Makepeace.  Whilst the arrangement for the Chief Occupational Physician to make the initial decision may have been in place for many years, the Trustees did not delegate their decision making power to Dr Makepeace until 3 October 2003.  When they did so, they gave him the delegated authority to decide whether Mr Adkins was incapacitated or not and the extent of the incapacity. The rule describes how the extent of incapacity will “normally” be assessed (being in relation to capacity to work), but leaves open the possibility of other, different, circumstances constituting “serious and permanent incapacity”.  That “normal” assessment is what was delegated to Dr Makepeace. However, no-one has considered whether there are other circumstances that might mean that Mr Adkins’ incapacity was serious and permanent other than by the “normal” criteria.

71. The most significant issue relates, however, to the timing of the decision.

72. From April 2003 there was an indication from Mr Adkins’ GP that Mr Adkins was displaying symptoms consistent with CFS, and from May 2003 he was submitting sick notes recording his condition as being CFS.  

73. Dr Makepeace did not provide an opinion, when asked to do so, in June 2003.  He referred the matter to a local occupational physician who did not provide his report until over two months later, on 20 August 2003.  That report did not provide the opinion that was needed.  Instead the matter was referred by the HR Manager back to Dr Makepeace, on 8 September 2003, with Dr Makepeace not seeking a specialist opinion until 23 September 2003.  There was an unnecessary delay of almost four months. 
74. Dr Makepeace only had medical information up to July 2003 when he made his assessment on 22 September 2003 and did not have a copy of Dr Weir’s report (which was not provided until 23 September 2003).  He then sought a specialist opinion.

75. I accept that there was some activity during the period (and that it was summer).  But having regard to all the circumstances I consider that the process took too long.  It may be that part of the reason is that the Employer thought that the pension could still be paid after Mr Adkins’ redundancy took effect (so that time was not particularly significant).
76. I do not accept the Trustees’ position that only if I consider the Appeals Committee’s finding perverse can I make a finding on the reasonableness of the delay which is inconsistent with that of the Appeals Committee.  That amounts to saying that if the Trustees decide that they or their delegates have not acted with maladministration then I must accept their conclusion in the absence of perversity. Parliament has given the Pensions Ombudsman the task of determining complaints of maladministration.  Though the test of maladministration in decision making, where the decision or exercise of discretion is integral to the running of the scheme, is one of reasonableness in the strict sense, I do not think my powers can be taken as restricted so as to give those involved in the management of the scheme primary (and greater) responsibility for deciding whether there has been maladministration.

77. Without any criticism of Dr Makepeace’s medical judgement, my finding is that there was maladministration in not establishing before Mr Adkins’ redundancy took effect whether he was suffering from an ailment that could qualify him for an ill-health pension.  Taken together with the fact that during the whole of this time the Trustees (or anyone else with clearly delegated powers) were effectively excluded from any direct involvement, there is sufficient doubt as to the process to require the decision to be remade. 
78. If matters had proceeded in time for consideration before Mr Adkins’ redundancy took effect, then some or all of the evidence that subsequently came to light would have been available at the time of the decision.  I consider that a proper approach in the circumstances would be for the Trustees to take into account all of the evidence that became available up to the eventual decision in 2004.
79. I do not think that the subsequent appeal process can have cured the failures I have found, since amongst other things, it reached a different conclusion as to delay and never dealt with whether anything other than the “normal” criteria should be applied in determining the extent of incapacity.

80. I therefore uphold Mr Adkins’ complaint in this regard.

81. Mr Adkins also complains that his appeal under the Scheme’s IDR procedures was not properly considered.  The Occupational Pension Schemes (Internal Dispute Resolution Procedures) Regulations 1996 state that both a stage one and a stage two response must be issued within two months of an application having been received.  Mr Adkins submitted a stage one application on 5 September 2004 and a response was provided to him on 26 October 2004.  Although an expanded response was provided on 2 December 2004, my view is that a stage one response had been provided within the statutory timescale.  

82. An application under stage two must be made within six months of the date of the stage one decision.  Strictly Mr Adkins was required to have submitted a stage two application by March 2005.  However, the Trustees agreed to extend the time period in which to make an application on the basis of its expanded stage one decision being issued on 2 December 2004. He did not submit his application until 22 May 2005.  Although a stage two response was not provided until 12 October 2005, my view is that Mr Adkins has not suffered any significant injustice. 

83. This part of Mr Adkins’ complaint is not upheld.

84. As far as Mr Adkins’ claim for his costs is concerned, my office’s processes are designed to accommodate unrepresented complainants.  I am not aware of any exceptional circumstances justifying an award in this case.
DIRECTIONS
85. Within 28 days of the date of this determination, the Trustees are to reconsider Mr Adkins’ application as if he were still in service before redundancy in October 2003, and still capable of leaving service, possibly qualifying for an ill-health pension.   They should take into account all of the evidence that became available up to their eventual actual decision in 2004 and such further evidence as they may require.
86. The Trustees should convey their decision to him with reasons, within 10 days of reaching it.

87. If the decision reached is that Mr Adkins would have qualified for health retirement had he left employment prior to his redundancy, then payment of the resulting benefits may be made subject to Mr Adkins repaying his redundancy benefits to the Employer.
TONY KING

Pensions Ombudsman

23 July 2008

APPENDIX 1

RELEVANT EXTRACT FROM THE DEFINITIVE DEED AND RULES DATED 25 FEBRUARY 2002

From the Trust Deed

23.
Trustees’ power to appoint agents

The Trustees shall have power to appoint or act through and remove any agents whether individual or a corporate body or a professional firm or other undertaking and whether or not any such persons are trustees or employees or directors of a corporate Trustee or of an Employer.  The Trustees may delegate to any individual or to any corporate body, professional firm or other undertaking on such terms as they consider appropriate power:-

(A)
to exercise discretions, sign certificates, operate bank accounts, sign cheques and mandates, make declarations, receive and make payments (including payments of benefits), give receipts, discharges and undertakings, and  

(B)
generally to act for the Trustees and on their behalf in the transaction of any business relating to the Fund.

From the Rules .
Rule 18.-Benefit 3 (Payable only where no Benefit 3A is payable)

(A)
Qualification for a Pension

A Benefit 3 pension will be payable to a Contributing Member to whom all the following qualifications apply:-

(i)
The Contributing Member must have left the employment of a Contributing Company by reason of permanent incapacity arising from physical injury or ill health.  The Trustees will grant a Benefit 3 pension only if no pension is payable under Rule 18A, and normally only if they are satisfied that the physical injury or ill-health from which the Contributing Member is suffering is likely to incapacitate him permanently or for an indefinite period from doing his ordinary work.  The Trustees may obtain a report from a qualified medical practitioner approved by them to that effect.  The Trustees may also pay regard to any medical report obtained by the Contributing Member but the decision of the Trustees shall be final.

(ii)
The Contributing Member must, at the time he left the employment of the Contributing Company, have been under the Normal Retirement Age.

(iii)
The Contributing Member must at that time have been entitled to ten or more years’ Pensionable Service.

PROVIDED THAT if he left the employment of the Contributing Company on or after 6 April 1975, the pension will only be payable if he so requests and will then be paid to him in lieu of any other pension payable to him under the Rules (other than a Supplementary Pension under Rule 20).

Rule 18A. – Benefit 3A

(A) Qualification for a Pension

A Benefit 3 pension will be payable to a Contributing Member to whom all the following qualifications apply:

(i)
The Contributing member must have left the employment of a Contributing Company on or after 1st February 1980 by reason of serious and permanent incapacity arising from physical injury or ill health. The Trustees will normally grant a pension only if they are satisfied that the incapacity is such that the Contributing member concerned is not capable of being gainfully employed by a Contributing Company or any other employer or employers and is not likely to recover from the incapacity to any substantial extent and for this purpose the trustees may obtain a report from a qualified Medical Practitioner approved by them.  The Trustees may also pay regard to any medical report obtained by the Contributing Member but the decision of the trustees shall be final.

(ii)
The Contributing Member must, at the time he left employment of the Contributing Company, have been under the Normal Retirement Age.

(iii)
The Contributing member must at that time have been entitled to ten or more years’ Pensionable Service.

PROVIDED THAT if he left the employment of the Contributing Company on or after the 6th April 1975, the pension will only be payable if he so requests and will then be paid to him in lieu of any other pension payable to him under the Rules (other than a Supplementary Pension under Rule 20).  

(B)…,

…(E)
Contributing Member’s or Pensioner’s Right of Appeal

A Contributing Member or Pensioner may either personally or through his Trade Union appeal in writing against any decision of the Trustees under this Rule not to grant a Benefit 3A pension or a decision under paragraph (d) of this Rule to discontinue suspend or reduce a Benefit 3A pension.

If the Member does give notice of appeal this will be dealt with under the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure.  If the Member regards the initial answer under the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure as unsatisfactory he may apply in writing for a review of that decision to the Failure of Health Panel of the trustees (“the Panel”).

Following receipt of a notice of appeal from a Member the Panel will obtain and consider

(i)
in the case of a previous decision of the Trustees not to grant a Benefit 3A pension details of the Member’s employment and the circumstances of his leaving employment together with the relevant medical records of the Contributing Company concerned and such other medical information as the member shall submit.

(ii)
in the case of a previous decision of the trustees to discontinue suspend or reduce a Benefit 3A pension under paragraph (D) of this Rule such further medical information, as the Member shall submit.

The Member shall be given an opportunity to review any medical information provided by the Contributing Company and shall be required to confirm that he is satisfied with the adequacy of such information.

If the Panel and the member are satisfied that the medical information provided is adequate the Panel shall decide whether to award a Benefit 3A pension or to withdraw or modify an earlier decision of the trustees under paragraph (D) of this Rule to discontinue, suspend or reduce a Benefit 3A pension (as the case may be).

If the Panel or the member are not satisfied as to the adequacy of the medical information provided the Panel and the Member shall agree on an independent medical report being commissioned from an appropriately qualified registered medical practitioner to be recommended by the medical adviser to the Trustees.  The purpose of such further report shall be to determine the Member’s medical condition at the date of leaving employment or at the date of discontinuance, suspension or reduction under paragraph (D) of this Rule (as the case may be).  ON the basis of such further report the Panel shall decide whether to award a Benefit 3A pension or to withdraw or modify an earlier decision under paragraph (D) of this rule to discontinue suspend or reduce a Benefit 3A pension (as the case may be).  The Member and the Trustees shall accept the Panel’s decision on the basis of the further medical report so commissioned as final and conclusive.

Rule 19. – Benefit 4

(A) Qualification for a Pension

A Benefit 4 pension will be payable to a Contributing Member to whom all the following qualifications apply:-

(i)
The Contributing member must have left the employment of a Contributing Company for reasons outside his control but nor owing to (a) the circumstances in which a Benefit 3 pension or Benefit 3A pension becomes payable or (b) his own misconduct (about which the decision of the Contributing Company employing him shall be final).

(ii)
He must, at the time he left the employment of the Contributing Company have reached age 50 but not the age falling 5 years prior to Normal Retirement Age.

(iii)
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